STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

NOV 13 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

RANDALL PRICE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001037

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the record supports the PCR court's finding that trial counsel adequately presented evidence of a third-party's blood being on Petitioner's pocket knife when the State's case was built on the credibility of two witnesses who alleged they were the only ones Petitioner attacked; where Petitioner claimed they attacked him in concert with two others; and where the blood on the knife came from someone other than Petitioner and the two witnesses.

STATEMENT

On June 7, 2007, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Randall Price for two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill. App. 408—App. 409. On June 8, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. Richard H. Whelchel represented Petitioner and Ryan F. McCarty represented the State. App. 1.

“My only intention was to leave that house alive, that was my only intention. I would not have hurt them on purpose,” Petitioner proclaimed at trial. App. 179, lines 3-4. On January 13, 2007, Jennifer Dawn Henson and her husband, Dewayne Henson, had invited him into their house. Petitioner had just met the couple after moving into his dad’s home nearby after a debilitating car accident. App. 161, lines 14-25. As a result of the accident, Petitioner could not work, and the day before he had just received a settlement check for about \$8,800. App. 163, lines 1-23. He had quickly deposited most of the funds but kept \$3,000 in 100 dollar bills, App. 164, lines 1-8, and Dewayne and Dawn Henson knew it, App. 164, lines 9-24.

At the Henson’s house, the three partied by using crack. When their supply ran low, Dewayne wanted to leave to find more, and Petitioner offered to pay. Dewayne drove himself and Petitioner to a trailer to meet up with a man named Rodney that Dewayne knew. At the trailer, Petitioner pulled out his \$3,000 and gave Dewayne \$200. Dewayne bought more crack, and the three men and a woman named Pamela Massey rode back to the Henson’s house together to party some more. App. 166, line 18—App. 168, line 11; App. 169, lines 8-15; App. 172, lines 1-3.

The group used crack until nine o’clock that night, when Petitioner told Dewayne, Jennifer Dawn, Rodney, and Pamela that it was time for him to go and began to leave.

[Rodney] grabbed my arm and Dewayne said, You’re not leaving with that GD money and I said, Wait a minute, wait a minute, you know, I was real scared and startled so I fought off those two and they got the money but I grabbed ahold to it and was still strugglin’

this (demonstrating) this away and I was holdin' the money and it tore, it ripped most of the money in half so I'm thinkin' okay, here's four people, how can I get rid of 'em so I just throw the money across the room as hard as I can and pieces go everywhere, well three of 'em went toward the money.

App. 170, lines 16-25. During the affray, Pamela Massey attacked Petitioner with a black-handled knife and Petitioner had pulled out his own pocket knife. He wrested Pamela's away. While trying to escape the house, he was "cutting every which way," stumbling out the back door and falling with Jennifer Dawn and Rodney on top of him. App. 171, line 11—App. 173, line 15. He quickly rose to his feet and ran to the only nearby house that was lit and banged on the door. Pam and Dewayne, after the eruption of violence inside the house, had already scrambled to the house, which was occupied by their neighbor, Mr. Brewington. App. 173, line 18—App. 174, line 10. Seeing them inside, Petitioner fled again but tripped, dropped both knives, and did not remember anything else until police woke him up laying on the ground. App. 174, lines 16-24.

Petitioner testified that he told the officers who woke him the entire story at the scene. App. 174, lines 16-24. The responding officers never recorded his statement. App. 175, lines 4-8. Instead, they booked him into jail having been stripped of everything but a single twenty-dollar bill. App. 176, lines 16-24.

The disregard for Petitioner's side of the story continued at trial, when the State called Jennifer Dawn Henson to give a much more questionable account. She said that for at least four hours, she was drinking and smoking crack with Dewayne before Petitioner came over, bringing with him Pam Massey and another man, both of which she did not know. App. 64, line 9—App. 65, line 24; App. 83, lines 2-15. Though asked directly, she would not say under oath whether or not Dewayne knew either of the two. App. 87, lines 17-18. However, she later testified that at

some point Dewayne drove off with the man who he did not know to buy more crack. App. 67, lines 6-8; App. 89, lines 9-12.

She said after the two men left, she, Pamela Massey, and Petitioner were seated at a table playing cards when Petitioner suddenly stood up behind Pam and cut her in the throat. App. 72, lines 6-13. "When I seen what he did with her, and she had already ran out the door, I looked up 'cuz I looked to see where she ran and then I looked back and I looked up at him and he was smilin' holdin' a knife," she stammered. App. 74, lines 1-4. She then tried to explain that Pam ran out of a front door while she tried the kitchen door, but Petitioner cut her in the process "'cuz my dead bolt was locked on my door and when I went to unlock it he locked it back and as soon as he did that he—that's when he cut my, the backa my neck—." App. 75, lines 13-23. She claimed he also stabbed her in the ribs and punctured her left lung, but no photos or other testimony showed such a wound or treatment. App. 75, line 25—App. 76, line 4. She twice testified she never took any of Petitioner's money, but a discharge nurse and custodian of records at the hospital she visited later testified that she left the hospital with seven one-hundred dollar bills. App. 93, lines 5-17; App. 204, lines 9-17; App. 212, lines 1-17.

Pam Massey also testified and said she arrived at the house in a car with Rodney and Petitioner, whom Rodney had just introduced her to. App. 97, lines 3-21. She claimed she had seen Rodney "off and on" for about a year in partying environments, yet she said she never learned his last name. App. 110, lines 20-25. Contrary to Jennifer Dawn's account, she specifically said when Petitioner cut her neck, he was across the table from her. App. 102, lines 18-21.

The State called last an officer from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office, who laid a foundation for the admission of a lock-blade knife with a black, plastic handle and a Puma-brand pocket knife with blood on it, both of which he picked up from the front yard of the Henson's home

after the incident. App. 132, lines 16-18; App. 140, lines 6-19. He also testified Petitioner had a cut on his right wrist at the time. App. 152, lines 17-20.

After closing arguments, the jury deliberated for two hours and began again the next day, when they deliberated from nine in the morning until four in the afternoon. The jury asked the court to play back the testimonies of Jennifer Dawn Henson, Pamela Massey, Petitioner, and Mr. Brewington. App. 264, line 15—App. 269, line 5. Ultimately, it found Petitioner guilty on both counts. App. 270, lines 1-7. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to concurrent sentences of twenty years' incarceration suspended to twelve years with three years of probation. App. 275, lines 14—App. 276, line 8.

On May 9, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) claiming ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 278—App. 287. The State filed a return on May 8, 2014. App. 288—App. 293. On January 13, 2015, Petitioner appeared at an evidentiary hearing before The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Christopher D. Brough represented Petitioner and Suzanne H. White represented the State. App. 294.

Petitioner offered into evidence an official SLED report of testing done on the knives used in the altercation that strongly corroborated his story and impeached that of the two women. The report showed blood from his Puma-brand pocket knife came from at least three individuals, possibly including Jennifer Henson and Petitioner; **however, Pam Massey was excluded.** Petitioner stated trial counsel had never discussed the report with him, and he was unaware any forensic testing was done on the knives until PCR counsel told him. App. 308, line 4—App. 309, line 3; App. 309, lines 4-23; App. 361—App. 365.

Trial counsel testified he was not aware if any forensic testing was done to show whether Dewayne Henson or Rodney was present in the house because “[w]e could not find them.” App.

343, lines 10-14. Trial counsel was then asked whether he thought the fact that testing revealed a third party's blood on the knife would have supported Petitioner's defense. "Well, in order to get that testimony in I'm gonna have to bring in the SLED, the SLED chemist that . . . does the blood analysis." App. 343, lines 16-23. He said he was also concerned because a SLED analyst could testify that the test could not determine whether the blood was on the knife prior to the incident. However, he agreed that the evidence would still support the argument that the State could not disprove Petitioner's version of the incident beyond a reasonable doubt. App. 344, lines 1-14.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the PCR judge ruled from the bench that Petitioner had not shown ineffective assistance of counsel. Specifically, she said trial counsel made a valid strategic decision not to call a SLED chemist because the testimony "would have been probably, under these circumstances, more beneficial to the state the inability to determine the origin of when it was there, coupled with the fact that you could not find these other individuals" App. 350, lines 3-15. She added, "I would have to assume that these individuals that he was getting high with . . . I suspect they had a little brush with the system at some point in their life, and so it would seem to me that they would have popped up because when they run DNA they run it through CODIS." App. 351, lines 2-9. She also said the evidence would have been of little help to Petitioner's case because an analyst could not testify when the blood first appeared on the knife. App. 351, lines 15-19.

On April 30, 2015, the PCR judge issued a written order of dismissal. App. 378—App. 406. Although she acknowledged that the case "was ultimately a credibility case," she wrote, "This Court finds it highly probable that the SLED witness's testimony would have been more beneficial to the State." App. 393—App. 394.

ARGUMENT

The record does not support the PCR judge's bases for concluding that trial counsel made a reasonable decision not to present evidence of a third party's blood on the knife, and his failure to present the evidence undermines any confidence in the guilty verdict centered on witness testimony that the blood evidence tended to refute.

The record does not support the PCR judge's bases for concluding that trial counsel made a reasonable decision not to present evidence of a third party's blood on the knife, and his failure to present the evidence undermines any confidence in the guilty verdict centered on witness testimony that the blood evidence tended to refute. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has created a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel by which a PCR applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* at 687.

As to the first prong, "[t]he validity of counsel's strategy is reviewed under 'an objective standard of reasonableness.'" *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 463, 670 S.E.2d 646, 650 (2008) (quoting *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002)). "[A]n attorney must at a minimum, 'conduct appropriate investigations, both factual and legal, to determine if matters of defense can be developed, and to allow himself enough time for reflection and preparation for trial.'" *Sneed v. Smith*, 670 F.2d 1348, 1353 (4th Cir. 1982) (quoting *Coles v. Peyton*, 389 F.2d 224, 226 (4th Cir. 1968)). In determining whether a criminal defense counsel sufficiently investigated and presented evidence favorable to the defendant, a court must identify an affirmative decision not to proceed with the evidence and assess the reasonableness of the decision under the facts and circumstances within counsel's knowledge:

“[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation. In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary. In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.”

Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003) (quoting *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 690-91 (1984)).

“The second prong of the *Strickland* test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998).

In determining whether trial counsel's deficient management of evidence harmed the defendant's case, the court should consider the following factors: the importance of the evidence in the prosecution's case; whether the evidence was cumulative; the presence or absence of other evidence corroborating or contradicting the evidence on material points; the overall strength of the prosecution's case. *C.f. State v. Curry*, 370 S.C. 674, 680, 636 S.E.2d 649, 652 (Ct. App. 2006) (in determining harmless error, court should consider “the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case” (quoting *State v. Clark*, 315 S.C. 478, 482, 445 S.E.2d 633, 635 (1994))). The court should also

consider that the importance of a piece of evidence to the jury's deliberations and the overall strength of the prosecution's case are reflected in a jury's written request to review the evidence during deliberations. *C.f., e.g., State v. Stanley*, 700 N.E.2d881, 899 (Ct. App. Ohio 1997) ("The question from the jurors indicates that they believed that they were missing an exhibit, but does not demonstrate that the jurors placed any kind of special evidentiary value or weight on the document."). Importantly, the standard for prejudice "is not what effect the constitutional error might generally be expected to have upon a reasonable jury, but rather what effect it had upon the guilty verdict in the case at hand." *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993).

In this case, the record repeatedly shows that trial counsel's failure to present evidence of the third-party blood on the knife was unreasonable under the circumstances. At the PCR hearing, trial counsel explicitly agreed that the blood evidence tended to support Petitioner's account of the altercation and therefore the argument that the State could not disprove his account beyond a reasonable doubt. Trial counsel only attempted two justifications for failing to present it. First, he intimated he was unable to subpoena the SLED chemist to lay a foundation for the evidence. This justification was unreasonable because trial counsel subpoenaed the hospital's nurse and records custodian to testify in Petitioner's defense, and nothing in the record shows why he could not have done the same with a witness from SLED. Moreover, even without a SLED chemist, trial counsel could have introduced at trial the SLED report introduced at the PCR hearing by laying a foundation under Rules 801(d)(2) and 902(1), SCRE, which address non-hearsay admissions by party-opponents and self-authentication of domestic public documents under seal, respectively.

Trial counsel's second justification was that the SLED report could not rule out the possibility that the third-party's blood was on the knife prior to the incident. This justification

was unreasonable because the jury was obligated to consider the evidence and any inferences to be fairly drawn therefrom, and the State therefore would have shouldered the burden of convincing the jury that the third-party's blood should not cause it to reasonably doubt Jennifer Dawn and Pamela's story.

The PCR judge ruled as an additional basis that trial counsel's decision not to adduce the blood evidence was reasonable because if the blood belonged to Dewayne or Rodney, the SLED analysis would have revealed it. Nothing in the record itself supports this analysis, and she could not have taken judicial notice under Rule 201, SCRE,¹ that both men had blood samples taken and recorded in a SLED database because such a fact would be subject to reasonable dispute and not generally known by the jury or readily determined through a source whose accuracy could not reasonably be questioned.

Considering adducing the evidence of the potential blood on the knife from someone other than Petitioner, Jennifer Dawn, and Pamela risked no conceivable harm to Petitioner's defense, the conclusions of both trial counsel and the PCR judge that the costs of adducing the evidence outweighed the benefits was entirely unreasonable, and the PCR judge's ruling that trial counsel was not deficient in failing to present the evidence was unsupported by the record.

Trial counsel's deficiency also caused prejudice to Petitioner's defense because, as the PCR judge noted, the State's case was a very close one built on weighing Jennifer Dawn and Pamela's credibilities against Petitioner's. Significant evidence impeached Jennifer Dawn and Pamela's credibilities. Jennifer Dawn and Dewayne were strung out from hours of crack use, and Pamela and Rodney were likely not far behind. If they knew Petitioner had the cash from the settlement on him,

¹ Rule 201(b), SCRE, provides that a "judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the

whether through word on the street, his telling them, or his showing them when buying crack, then they not only had the propensity for violence but also a clear motive to attack him. The women's testimonies were also inconsistent. For example, even when asked directly, Jennifer Dawn would not aver that Dewayne had never met Rodney, but a short time later she testified that Dewayne did not know him when they left to buy more crack. She also specifically described Petitioner as standing behind Pamela when he cut her, but Pamela specifically said Petitioner attacked her from across the table. Jennifer Dawn claimed Petitioner stabbed her in the ribs and punctured her left lung, but no photos or other testimony showed such a wound or treatment. Finally, Jennifer Dawn twice testified she never took any of Petitioner's money, but the discharge nurse confirmed that she left the hospital with seven one-hundred dollar bills—exactly one-quarter of the twenty-eight hundred dollars Petitioner said was taken.

Jennifer Dawn's testimony also seemed overly calculated insofar as she gave unasked but specific detail in attempting to make her account realistic: "When I seen what he did with her, and she had already ran out the door, I looked up 'cuz I looked to see where she ran and then I looked back and I looked up at him and he was smilin' holdin' a knife." She then testified Petitioner was able to attack both of them separately "cuz my dead bolt was locked on my door and when I went to unlock it he locked it back and as soon as he did that he—that's when he cut my, the backa my neck—."

Petitioner's account carried multiple signs of credibility. Only he accounted for how the black-handled knife became involved in the altercation and therefore testified consistent with the police's recovery of the knife in the yard. Petitioner also testified that he kept to his story from the

trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned."