STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

APR 01 2016

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-001037

---

Randall Price, ..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

ALICIA A. OLIVE  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #102089

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Does the record contain evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving counsel was ineffective where Counsel gave a valid strategic reason for not seeking to introduce a SLED report showing the existence of DNA from an unidentified third person on the knife?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. He was indicted at the June 2007 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill (2007-GS-42-2836, -2837). Petitioner was represented by Richard Welchel, Esquire. On June 10, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to trial, where he was convicted of the charges by a jury. The Honorable J. Derham Cole sentenced Petitioner to twenty years, suspended upon service of twelve years to three years of probation (2007-2836) and a consecutive sentence of twelve years suspended to three years of probation (2007-2837).

A timely notice of appeal and Anders brief were filed on the Petitioner's behalf. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Price, Op. No. 2013-UP-141 (filed April 10, 2013). The Remittitur was returned on June 4, 2013.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") on May 9, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on January 13, 2015, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by Christopher D. Brough, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent.

At the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Pastor Kevin Smith, Timothy Powell, and Juanita Price also testified on his behalf. Richard H. Welchel, Esquire, ("Counsel") also testified. Judge Jefferson denied and dismissed Petitioner's PCR with prejudice by Order signed April 30, 2015, and filed May 7, 2015.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court must affirm the post-conviction relief ("PCR") court's factual findings if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005) (citing Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989)). This Court should reverse the PCR court only where there is no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law. Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010). Furthermore, this Court "gives great deference to the [PCR] court's findings of fact and conclusions of law." Id. (quoting Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005)).

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The record contains evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving counsel was ineffective where Counsel gave a valid strategic reason for not seeking to introduce a SLED report showing the existence of DNA from an unidentified third person on the knife.**

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). An applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

**A. The record contains ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show Counsel's performance was deficient.**

This Court should deny review because there is ample evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show Counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. The PCR judge found that "Counsel was not ineffective for failing to introduce DNA evidence and exercised his discretion by making tactical, strategic decisions for [Petitioner's] defense." (App. p. 393).

Counsel testified that "there was never any question, from the beginning, that [Petitioner's case] was going to be a self-defense case." (App. p. 335, lines 5-6). Counsel testified that Petitioner had a cut on his wrist, that the cut was some evidence of self-defense, that Petitioner had testified he was cut, and that Officer Talanges also testified about the cut and there were photographs taken of the cut as well. (App. p. 337, p. 10-12). Counsel also testified that the cut was not substantial. (App. p. 337, lines 13-15). Counsel testified he did not recall specifically questioning the other witnesses about the cut but that he "didn't want to give them a chance to deny." (App. p. 341, lines 9-24).

Counsel further testified that to his knowledge, there was no testing done of the other individuals that Petitioner testified were there, but that they also could not find those individuals. (App. p. 343, lines 10-14). Counsel testified that in order to elicit testimony regarding the DNA evidence, he would have to call "the SLED chemist [who] does the blood analysis." (App. p. 343, lines 20-23). Counsel further stated, "[b]ut my problem is when you bring in what I consider to be professional normal State's witnesses, they tend to tailor their testimony towards the State

and not the defense." (App. p. 344, lines 1-4). Counsel added that "[t]hey could testify that they have no way of knowing when or where that blood was on the knife, whether it was on there, . . . from before, had not related to the incident at all." (App. p. 344, lines 6-9).

Petitioner testified at trial. (App. pp. 161-203). Petitioner testified that the testimony he gave at the PCR hearing "was the same testimony [he] provided at the trial." (App. p. 315, lines 19-21). Petitioner testified that that it was his contention that the DNA report "would definitely show that I was injured with that particular knife and that my blood was on the knife[,] and that the jury would not have "couldn't say that [he] was not injured." (App. p. 310, lines 7-20). However, Petitioner testified at trial that he was attacked by four attackers and cut on his hand. (App. p. 194, lines 14-15; 199, lines 19-22). Additionally, a photograph of the laceration to his hand was introduced at trial. (App. p. 153, lines 3-9).

Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317, S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1996). "Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel." Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir.1977)). In making a fair assessment of attorney performance, a court must make every effort to "eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689. There is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance and the "[applicant] must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy." Id.

Further, on review, this Court "gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved." Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)).

Here, Counsel testified that he did not introduce the DNA report because he would have had to call a SLED analyst to testify and he reasoned that the analyst's testimony would be slanted toward the State and that he would not be able to testify as to how or when the DNA came to be on the knife. Furthermore, though Petitioner argues the DNA report would have supported his testimony that four people attacked him, it is equally likely, based on the record and the testimony at the PCR hearing, that the evidence would have undermined his testimony. (See App. p. 310, lines 11-20).

Accordingly, the record contains ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Counsel gave valid strategic reasons for not introducing the DNA report, and that, therefore, Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving Counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

**B. The record contains ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show prejudice.**

The record supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving that any alleged deficiency in Counsel's performance prejudiced him.

To satisfy the second prong of Strickland, Petitioner must show "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. In other words, Petitioner would have to show not only

that the challenge to the indictment would have been successful, but that he would not have been convicted.

Petitioner failed to introduce evidence at the PCR hearing to show who the DNA belonged to or when the DNA came to be on the knife. (App. p. 344, lines 6-9). Furthermore, no evidence was presented to show whether the DNA belonged to a male or female. Accordingly, the PCR judge could only speculate as to whether the evidence would have affected the outcome. Furthermore, Petitioner testified the DNA report would have showed that his blood was on the knife. However, this would have only been cumulative evidence because Petitioner and an offer testified at trial that Petitioner had been cut and a photograph of the cut was admitted into evidence. Therefore, the fact Petitioner's DNA was on the knife with another unknown individual had no bearing on the outcome of Petitioner's trial.

Accordingly, the record supports the PCR judge's finding that there is no reasonable probability that, but for the alleged errors of Counsel, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.

Accordingly, the record fully supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to show that Counsel's performance was deficient or that he was prejudiced by any alleged deficient conduct. Therefore, this Court should deny review.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.